IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,209

Florida Bar No. 184170

SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC., a)
Kansas corporation,)

Petitioner,

vs.

EDWARD ALCOVER and SUSAN ALCOVER, his wife; HYDRAULIC MAINTENANCE, INC., a Florida corporation; and FLORIDA WIRE AND RIGGING, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

FILED

SID J WHITE

JAN 11 1996

SEDE PROPERTY

Office Deputy Clark

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS
SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC.,
A Kansas corporation

(With Appendix)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On September 10, 1990, Edward Alcover, an employee of Claude Neon Signs, was using an aerial ladder, attached to a truck to install a sign (A 1-3). While he was using the ladder in an extended position, the wire cable snapped causing an uncontrolled retraction of the ladder, resulting in the Plaintiff being thrown about on the platform attached to the ladder, and sustaining injuries (A 2-3). Alcover sued Sponco, which manufactured the ladder in 1980; Hydraulic, which replaced the wire rope cable on the ladder in 1988; and Florida Wire, the manufacturer of the cable (A 1-13). As to Sponco, the Plaintiff alleged that Sponco defectively and/or negligently designed, manufactured, assembled, or produced the ladder (A 3-7).

Four years after the accident, three years after the Plaintiff filed its Complaint, and two years after the Plaintiff was on notice that Sponco was holding the ladder, the Plaintiff finally decided to request an inspection of the ladder in March of 1994 (A 17). At that point, it was discovered, through pure inadvertence, the ladder had been discarded from the Sponco yard (A 17). The relevant dates are:

- 1. May 1980 Sponco delivered truck and ladder to Claude Neon's Signs.
- November 1988 Hydraulic replaces wire cable; with cable manufactured by Florida Wire.
- 3. September 10, 1990 Cable breaks on ladder, ladder retracts and Plaintiff is injured.
- 4. December 1990 Sponco places a new ladder on Claude Neon's truck and returns truck to Claude Neon.

- 5. August 1991 Plaintiff's product liability Complaint is filed against Sponco, Hydraulic, and Florida Wire.
- 6. April 2, 1992 Ladder is partially inspected and photographed at Sponco yard, Ottawa, Kansas.
- 7. April 6, 1992 Plaintiff's counsel is advised by Sponco's counsel that ladder is available for inspection.
- 8. June 1993 Ladder is unintentionally discarded during annual yard clean up.
- 9. March 1994 Plaintiff requests inspection of ladder.

The Plaintiff, who did absolutely nothing to preserve the ladder and never even planned on inspecting it until four years after the accident, filed a Motion for Default against Sponco, on the basis that Sponco had not preserved the ladder; and therefore, the Plaintiff claimed he was completely unable to go forward with his lawsuit and so a default had to be entered against Sponco (A 14-26). There were no allegations by the Plaintiff, Alcover, that there was any intent to dispose of the ladder and the Plaintiff conceded that there was no violation of any court order in Sponco's inadvertent disposal of the ladder (A 14-25).

Alcover, while acknowledging that there was both Supreme Court and district court case law requiring the imposition of lessor sanctions than a default in similar situations, argued that based on two Third District cases, Rockwell and DePuy,

infra, and some federal trial court cases, that he was completely unable to prove his product liability case in any manner whatsoever and a default had to be entered. Alcover accompanied his Motion for Default with an Affidavit of an expert that was not even hired until January of 1994, who stated that without actually examining the subject ladder and its parts he was unable to render an expert opinion (A 27-30). The Affidavit did not state that there were no exemplar ladders available, no exemplar cable available from either Sponco, Hydraulic, or Florida Wire; and did not explain why an expert opinion could not be given based on an exemplar truck, ladder, and cable, even if the expert was correct in his vague assertion that the photographs were not sufficient for him to render an opinion in the case (A 27-30).

Sponco filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Plaintiff's Motion for Default, stating that it had manufactured the truck and the mounted hydraulic ladder in its plant in Ottawa, Kansas (A 31). The truck and ladder were delivered to Claude Neon Signs in May of 1980 (A 31). Shortly after the Plaintiff's accident, his employer, Claude Neon Signs, sent the truck and ladder back to Sponco in Kansas to have the old ladder replaced with a newer model ladder built by Sponco (A 32). After the old ladder had been replaced, Sponco kept the ladder in its yard outside its manufacturing plant in Kansas (A 32). It then sent the truck with a new ladder back to Claude Neon.

In April of 1992, a year after the Plaintiff's lawsuit, a limited inspection of the ladder was made at the Sponco yard by

the President of Sponco, an engineer hired for Sponco, and defense counsel (A 32). The engineer photographed the ladder. The ladder was not disassembled and no tests were performed on any of its component parts (A 32-33). On April 6, 1992, defense counsel wrote to the Plaintiff's lawyer informing him that the ladder was still in Kansas; and that the Defendant would like to disassemble the ladder, but would not do so without first giving the Plaintiff a chance to inspect it. Therefore, Plaintiff's counsel simply had to arrange to examine it and/or to be in attendance when the Defendant dismantled it (A 33). For two years, Plaintiff's counsel totally ignored the offer to examine the ladder, just as he never made any arrangements to ensure that the ladder was preserved. Finally, in March of 1994, the Plaintiff's lawyer, after hiring an expert just a few months before, tried to arrange to inspect the ladder and at that time it was discovered that the ladder had been inadvertently discarded (A 33).

Sponco pointed out that the Plaintiff's theory of liability regarding the ladder was that it was designed and built without a device that prevented an unplanned retraction called "fly-locks," which was a theory of liability based on product design, and was the only theory advanced to date regarding the ladder (A 33-34). Since there were other ladders available with the exact same design, i.e., exemplar ladders, as well as prints, drawing, schematics, etc., it was not necessary that the actual ladder be available for the Plaintiff to recover (A 34). Furthermore,

since the Plaintiff had waited three and a half years to even attempt to examine the ladder, took absolutely no steps to preserve it himself at any point in time, and there was no court order regarding the ladder, the Plaintiff's delay was the cause of any prejudice as a result of the inadvertent disposal of the ladder (A 34-35). Sponco then cited all the relevant case law, both in Florida and around the country that there are lessor sanctions to be imposed for the inadvertent destruction of evidence, such as a rebuttable presumption of negligence, etc.; and that these should be invoked by the court if any, as opposed to the harshest sanction of the default the Plaintiff was seeking (A 35-37).

The hearing on the Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions was held on October 6, 1994 (A 39-59). Sponco reiterated its position to the court that it had given the Plaintiff an opportunity to inspect the ladder two years before, but the Plaintiff did nothing until March of 1994, when it was discovered that the ladder had already been inadvertently disposed of (A 41-45). Sponco pointed out that had the Plaintiff taken any steps to inspect the ladder in a timely manner, he would not be in the position he was in; and the Defendant was equally prejudiced, because it could not file cross-claims or indemnity claims against Florida Wire and Hydraulic (A 45-48). Again, Sponco reminded the court that a default was the most severe sanction and should be used only when the party acted willfully or intentionally to destroy the evidence; and that where the act was

inadvertent a rebuttable presumption of negligence would be an appropriate sanction (A 50-51).

Since the ladder was available until June of 1993, with photographs and since the Plaintiff did absolutely nothing whatever to try to inspect the ladder in any manner during that time, or preserve it, Sponco asserted that a liability finding against it, through a default, would be inappropriate (A 51-52).

Again, the Plaintiff argued that there were two cases directly on point that showed that even if the ladder had disappeared, or was destroyed inadvertently, a default had to be entered because the Plaintiff alleged both design and manufacturing defects, and because he could not examine the wire cable on the ladder (A 53-54). The Plaintiff also argued that Sponco had not suggested any other appropriate sanction other than default, which was incorrect, since the rebuttable presumption was one of the alternative sanctions suggested (A 54). Finally, the Plaintiff argued that as long as the ladder was in the possession of the Defendant, a default had to be the sanction imposed against it (A 56-57).

The trial court then inquired if the Third District had indicated that a default was the proper sanction and the Plaintiff's attorney told the judge it was, while defense counsel noted his disagreement (A 57). The judge then stated:

THE COURT: I think there was an absolute duty on the part of Sponco to maintain and preserve that evidence, so I'm going to, based on the argument of Counsel and the

cases, I'm going to grant the motion to enter the default against Sponco.

(A 58)

A Default was entered against Sponco and its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on liability were struck (A 60-63). Sponco appealed.

Based on the fact that this was a spoilation of evidence case, the Third District affirmed and held that this Court's decisions in Commonwealth Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Tubero, 569 So. 2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Valcin, 507 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 1987), had no application whatsoever, even though these decisions mandate a finding of willfulness or bad faith before there is an imposition of a default. Sponco Manufacturing, Inc. v. Alcover, 656 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

This Court granted review based on the express and direct conflict with the Third District's law and the decisions of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The case involves a truck mounted hydraulic ladder manufactured by Sponco. The ladder contained a wire rope replaced by Hydraulic and manufactured by Florida Wire. In September of 1990, the Plaintiff, a neon sign electrician, was installing a sign, when the wire broke/snapped and the ladder partially retracted, injuring the Plaintiff as he held on to the The ladder and rope were held by Sponco in its yard in Kansas for three years, during which time the Plaintiff made absolutely no attempt to inspect the ladder or preserve it in any manner. In fact, the Plaintiff did not even hire an expert until January of 1994. In March of 1994, two years after defense counsel notified the Plaintiff with the location of the ladder, three years after suit was filed, and almost four years after the accident, the Plaintiff made his first attempt to examine it. At that time, it was discovered that the ladder had been inadvertently discarded, during a routine yard inventory in June of 1993.

In direct violation of Florida Supreme Court law, the trial judge in this case entered a blanket Order holding that the Defendant had an absolute duty to preserve the ladder; and the inadvertent disposal of it mandated a Default against Sponco. The judge did not find any willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order, which are the prerequisites before entering a default as a discovery sanction. It was undisputed that the disposal of the ladder was totally inadvertent and accidental,

and there was no court order requiring preservation of the ladder. The Plaintiff did virtually nothing to either inspect the ladder or preserve it for nearly four years after the accident. Under totally established Florida law, the Default must be reversed and if a sanction is to be imposed, a lesser sanction such as a rebuttable presumption of negligence would be appropriate, as properly suggested by defense counsel below. The trial court had the ability and duty to fashion a lesser sanction than Default.

If the Plaintiff was able to file suit without anyone examining the ladder to see if it was defective, and was able to litigate the case for three years contending the ladder was defective, without having anyone examine it to see if it was defective, it is difficult to see how the Plaintiff can say he was prejudiced because it was discarded four years after the accident, much less so prejudiced that a Default had to be entered.

This Court has mandated to lower courts the rule that when a default is to be entered, for failure to comply with a court order to compel discovery, or failure to comply with discovery requirements, the order must contain an explicit finding of willful noncompliance. In Sponco, the Third District announced a new rule of law that is in direct conflict; as it adopts a per se rule that the severest sanction of default must be entered, without a showing and finding of willful noncompliance.

The Third District held the Default was required because

this was a spoilation of evidence case and not a delayed discovery matter. This is a distinction without difference. The bottom line is that there was no willful or intentional acts involved, and the trial court found none. No new law has to be created and even the federal cases the Plaintiff relied on below do not allow a default under these circumstances, let alone require one.

Sponco cannot be squared with this Court's decisions. This Court must resolve the conflict; affirm the law as stated in Commonwealth and Valcin; and reverse the Default against Sponco.

ARGUMENT

THE NEW RULE OF LAW ANNOUNCED BELOW IS
IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE
DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN COMMONWEALTH
AND VALCIN, AND PRESENTS A QUESTION OF
GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING THE
THIRD DISTRICT'S PER SE RULE THAT DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE, EVEN IF INADVERTENT,
CARRIES A MANDATORY DEFAULT SANCTION; THIS
IS NOT THE LAW OF THIS COURT AND THE DEFAULT
MUST BE REVERSED.

The case involves a truck mounted hydraulic ladder manufactured by Sponco. In September of 1990, the Plaintiff, a neon sign electrician, was installing a sign, when the ladder cable snapped and the ladder partially retracted injuring the Plaintiff. In March of 1994, two years after defense counsel notified the Plaintiff with the location of the ladder, three years after suit was filed, and almost four years after the accident, the Plaintiff made his first attempt to examine it. At that time, it was discovered that the ladder had been inadvertently discarded, during a routine yard inventory in June of 1993.

In direct violation of Florida Supreme Court law, the trial court, based on two decisions of the Third District, entered a Default. The trial court accepted the Plaintiff's argument that only a default against Sponco could be entered, because his expert did not have the ladder and wire to examine. Of course, if the Plaintiff had not waited years to examine the ladder none of this would have happened.

The Third District affirmed the Default, citing its own law.

Sponco, 630. In doing so, the court announced a new rule of law,

that a defendant has an absolute duty to preserve evidence, even without a court order; and the inadvertent disposal of evidence mandates a default. The trial judge did not find any willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order, which are this Court's prerequisites, before entering a default as a discovery sanction. It was undisputed that the disposal of the ladder was totally inadvertent and accidental, and there was no court order requiring preservation of the ladder.

Under totally established Florida law, the Default was erroneous and the decision in <u>Sponco</u> is in direct and express conflict with this Court's decisions. If a sanction was to be imposed, a lesser sanction such as a rebuttable presumption of negligence would have been appropriate, as properly suggested by defense counsel below. Even federal courts do not impose defaults for the destruction of evidence, in the absence of a showing and finding of willfulness and bad faith. The lower court's per se rule of liability, for even the inadvertent disposal of evidence, is contrary to established Supreme Court law and the law in every other District Court and federal law. The Opinion below must be quashed and the Default against Sponco reversed.

A. Supreme Court Law Requires Reversal of Default.

The trial court did not find that the circumstances which prevented the Defendant from producing the ladder were willful and flagrant acts. They also were not in violation of any court

order, as there was none. Therefore, entering a Default against the Defendant as a sanction was unwarranted. There was no evidence whatsoever of a willful violation of a court order and, in fact, it was undisputed that the disposal of the ladder was totally inadvertent.

The default sanction, which determined liability in favor of the Plaintiff, was too severe and was unmerited in light of the fact that the Defendant had not acted in bad faith or with any intention of prejudicing the Plaintiff and there was absolutely no showing of a willful violation of a court order. If the Plaintiff was able to file suit without anyone examining the ladder to see if it was defective, and was able to litigate the case for three years contending the ladder was defective, without having anyone examine it to see if it was defective, it is difficult to see how the Plaintiff can say he was prejudiced because it was discarded four years after the accident, much less so prejudiced that a default must be entered.

The law is clear that the most severe sanctions should be reserved for those instances where a party exhibits gross indifference to court orders and flagrantly violates them.

Commonwealth, supra, (express written finding of a party's willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order directing compliance with discovery is necessary to support sanction of dismissal or default against noncomplying party).

This case simply was not that type of situation, and this is apparent from both the Affidavit of the Plaintiff's expert and

the transcript from the hearing on the Plaintiff's Motion. The trial court was well aware that the ladder was around for three years after the accident. It was two years after defense counsel asked the Plaintiff to examine it, so the Defendant could do its examination, before the Plaintiff even hired his expert. There was no evidence of a malicious destruction of evidence. This Default must be reversed since the only evidence was that there was no willful disobedience of a court order. Commonwealth, supra.

Similarly, there has been no indication that the Plaintiff was substantially prejudiced by not having the original ladder and wire cable intact and available for inspection. photographs and findings about the ladder in its original There was no Affidavit that an exemplar ladder could condition. not be used and tested. The Plaintiff's expert said he needed the ladder to establish a design defect, i.e., a failure to put devices called "fly-locks" on the ladder to prevent it from accidentally retracting. Ladders are available both with and without these fly-locks and the design of the ladders can be studied from available drawings, prints, schematics and exemplars. Among the same lines, there was no showing that an exemplar wire cable was not available for the Plaintiff's metallurgist to test. As will be discussed later, even if the original was somehow necessary, a rebuttable presumption of a defective condition could be imposed, instead of the ultimate sanction of a default. Valcin, supra.

Furthermore, any prejudice the Plaintiff realized was due in large part to the Plaintiff's own dilatory discovery methods. The Record is clear that the ladder and rope were available for inspection since September 1990, and the Plaintiff did not make any attempt to arrange discovery until after March of 1994. The Plaintiff had ample opportunity to inspect the items and offered no reason for failing to do so. His experts were not even hired until January 1994, two years after defense counsel offered to arrange inspections.

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