DA 04.01-96

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,209

SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC., a Kansas corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

EDWARD ALCOVER and SUSAN ALCOVER, his wife; et al,

Respondents.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 21 1996

OLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

G. William Bissett, Esq. Hardy, Bissett & Lipton, P.A. 501 Northeast First Avenue Miami, FL 33132 (305) 358-6200

Attorneys for Respondents

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

Secondly, Sponco presented no competent evidence to establish its assertion that the "design of the product" was "the only real issue in the case." Indeed, the record is to the contrary. The plaintiffs' amended complaint and the defendants' answers demonstrate that the case involved multiple issues, all of which have as their focal point the actual ladder and cable involved in Edward Alcover's accident. The case raises issues regarding design, manufacturing, and informational defects in both the aerial ladder and the cable, negligence in the repair and maintenance of the aerial ladder and cable prior to the accident, comparative negligence, assumption of the risk, product alteration, abuse or misuse, and apportionment of liability and damages under §768.81(3), Florida Statutes. Thus, Sponco's assertion that "it is not necessary that the actual ladder be available" is simply without any foundation in the pleadings, not to mention it directly contradicts the unrebutted expert affidavit plaintiffs filed in support of their motion for sanctions.

On this point we would also note that while Sponco challenges Dr. Flanigan's affidavit in its brief, attacks what it characterizes as his "vague assertion" that "photographs were not sufficient for him to render an opinion in the case," and suggests to this Court that "[s]ince there were other ladders available with the exact same design, ... it was not necessary that the actual ladder be available for plaintiff to recover," the fact remains that Sponco never availed itself below of the right it had to file a counter-affidavit, nor did it even seek to depose Dr. Flanigan during the two month period which elapsed after the filing of his affidavit. Thus, Sponco's belated and factually unsupported challenge to Dr. Flanigan's affidavit should be disregarded by the Court. See, City of Hialeah v. Weatherford, 466 So.2d 1127 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (burden of challenging sufficiency of expert's opinion and underlying support rests on party against whom the opinion testimony is offered).

Shelbyville Mutual Insurance Company v. Sunbeam Leisure Products Company, supra, involved a remarkably similar appellate challenge to the sufficiency of a party's showing in the trial court of the degree of prejudice resulting from the opponent's inadvertent disposal of parts of a product. In rejecting the appellant's evidentiary challenge on appeal, the Illinois court stated:

The insurance company argues only that Sunbeam did not suffer any prejudice because Dr. Baynes was able to form "an opinion" contrary to the opinion of Dr. Sutera. However, the insurance company did not file any affidavit or other evidence to refute Sunbeam's claim that it was prejudiced because it was not able to examine the grill in its precise postfire condition and that such an examination may have provided evidence to further support Dr. Baynes' opinion and to refute Clark's and Dr. Sutera's findings. We find Sunbeam's argument on this point compelling, since the grill was assembled and was to be properly maintained by the users, Mr. and Mrs. Sims. Sunbeam claimed in its uncontroverted affidavit that it might have been able to determine

an alternative cause for the fire if its expert had been allowed to inspect the grill for improper assembly, alteration, modification, or maintenance. An examination of the assembled grill also might have revealed contaminated gas, leaks at the connection of the grill and cylinder, or tampering with the valves and assembly and whether the burn patterns on the cylinder or frame indicated another origin of the fire.

By the inadvertent destruction of a portion of the grill, the insurance company effectively foreclosed a possible affirmative defense of what may have been the actual cause of the fire. Sunbeam thus lost any opportunity to present affirmative defenses of alternative causes of the fire and was limited by the insurance company's action to merely rebutting Dr. Sutera's opinion. Mere rebuttal of the theory of the insurance company's expert may not be nearly as an effective defense as a presentation to the jury by Sunbeam that the fire was actually caused by something other than a defective product. . . .

We are aware that courts should be reluctant to grant the extreme sanction of barring evidence when that ruling effectively resolves the case against the proponent of the evidence, but, in view of the uncontroverted affidavit which established prejudice to the defendant by the plaintiff's treatment of the gas grill, we cannot help but conclude that the trial court did not err in its ruling. Accordingly, we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the motion to bar evidence and did not err in granting the motion for summary judgment.

Accord, Allstate Insurance Company v. Sunbeam Corporation, 53 F.3d 804 (7th Cir. 1995);

Garcia v. Sunbeam Corporation, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 893 (N.D. III. 1996); Thomas v.

Bambardier-Rotax, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163 (N.D. III. 1996); Brancaccio v. Mitsubishi

Motors, Co., Inc., 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11022 (S.D. N.Y. 1992); Patton v. Newmar

Corporation, 538 N.W.2d 116 (Minn. 1995).

Thirdly, the sanction imposed by the trial court was entirely appropriate under the circumstances presented, in fact, it was the only sanction available to cure the extreme prejudice which Dr. Flanigan's affidavit established Sponco's actions had caused the plaintiffs. Moreover,

to the extent that Sponco believes that the nature of the parties' conduct is a critical factor in the sanction calculus, we would note that the record establishes that the plaintiffs are merely innocent victims of Sponco's misdeed and that Sponco never offered any evidence to the trial court to establish the true nature of its own conduct. Contrary to the suggestion of "mere inadvertence" on its part, Sponco never established when, why, or how the ladder and cable were lost or destroyed, and therefore it clearly failed to carry its required evidentiary burden. See, e.g. Hernandez v. Pino, 482 So.2d 450, 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (where a party in possession loses or destroys crucial evidence a burden is imposed on that party to prove that the loss or destruction was not intentional or in bad faith). The inference is strong that the ladder and cable were intentionally destroyed or discarded by Sponco because their own inspections (the results of which Sponco never disclosed) revealed that the critical evidence would have supported the plaintiffs' case. If the ladder and cable had, in fact, helped Sponco's case, then there is no doubt that Sponco would have been meticulously careful in preserving that critical physical evidence.

Indeed, Sponco may in reality be attempting to benefit by its own wrongdoing. As noted, Sponco had the opportunity to and did inspect, analyze and photograph the ladder and cable before its destruction, yet it <u>never</u> divulged the results it obtained to any of the parties or to the trial court. If the results were favorable to its position, then Sponco certainly would have had no reason whatsoever to withhold that information from the parties and the trial court. Therefore, a compelling inference exists that the results of Sponco's analysis and inspection were at least damaging to its position, if not sufficiently adverse to lend it to believe it was in a "no win" situation. This might explain why Sponco seemingly has no objection to going to trial with

a rebuttable presumption of its negligence or an adverse inference instruction being granted to the plaintiffs. At least under this scenario, Sponco might be able to somehow salvage a victory before the jury which it otherwise would have no hope of obtaining if the ladder and cable were still available for plaintiffs' use at trial. See, Headley, 141 F.R.D. at 365 - 367.

Here, plaintiffs carried their required burden of affirmatively demonstrating to the trial court a clear inability to proceed with the prosecution of their suit due to Sponco's loss or destruction of the ladder and cable. Sponco offered the trial court no evidence to the contrary during the two months which elapsed between the filing of plaintiffs' motion and the hearing held on that motion. Sponco's loss or destruction of the only physical evidence relating to the core issues in the case inflicted the ultimate prejudice upon the plaintiffs.

II.

IN THE CASE UNDER REVIEW, THE THIRD DISTRICT DID NOT, AS SPONCO INCORRECTLY SUGGESTS, "ANNOUNCE" A NEW "PER SE RULE THAT DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE CARRIES A MANDATORY DEFAULT SANCTION AND NO LESSER SANCTION CAN BE IMPOSED."

Apparently recognizing that the <u>actual</u> decision and opinion it has brought up for review does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal, Sponco has adopted a strategy under which it blatantly mischaracterizes the nature of the decision of the court below and then asserts that the <u>fictional decision it has created</u> establishes a basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary "conflict" jurisdiction. This Court should not allow itself to be fooled by Sponco's strategy.

Contrary to Sponco's assertion, the Third District did not "announce" a new "per se rule

that destruction of evidence carries a mandatory default sanction and no lesser sanction can be imposed." Instead, the Third District simply stated the existing, established rules applicable to factual situations such as the one presented, and then it appropriately applied those established principles of law to the undisputed facts. The rules of law applied by the Third District were not stated to be inflexible, per se rules. By their very nature, the rules discussed by the Third District in its opinion represent a flexible, balancing approach:

What sanctions are appropriate when a party fails to preserve evidence in its custody depends on the willfulness or bad faith, if any, of the party responsible for the loss of the evidence, the extent of prejudice suffered by the other party or parties, and what is required to cure the prejudice. [cits.]

Drastic sanctions, including default, are appropriate when a defendant alters or destroys physical evidence, and when the plaintiff has demonstrated an inability to proceed without such evidence. [cits.] As this is a case of spoliation of evidence rather than dilatory discovery production, we find those cases relied on by [Sponco] unpersuasive. A determination of willful destruction was not imperative where the testimony of plaintiff's expert convinced the trial court that, in the absence of the crucial evidence, the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies. Having proved his inability to proceed, Alcover's motion was properly granted and Sponco was held accountable for the ramifications of its actions. Here, Alcover's ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by Sponco's destruction of the evidence. [656 So.2d at 631].

See also, Patton v. Newmar Corporation, 538 N.W.2d 116 (Minn. 1995).

III.

THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE DOES NOT CREATE A PATENTLY IRRECONCILABLE CONFLICT WITH COMMONWEALTH FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASS'N V. TUBERO, 569 SO.2D 1271 (FLA. 1990) OR PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE CO. V. VALCIN, 507 SO.2D 596 (FLA. 1987) ON THE

SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

It is clear that the decision brought up for review and the decisions of this Court in Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n, v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) are not in "direct" conflict - the decisions are not "based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions." Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d at 811. The decision in Tubero arose in the context of a party's failure to provide certain unspecified discovery in response to the adverse party's interrogatories and request for production. The case was not concerned with the extent, if any, to which the failure to provide discovery actually prejudiced the party seeking the discovery.

The case was only concerned with discovery sanctions and the narrow legal issue of whether "an express written finding of willful or deliberate refusal to comply with discovery under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.380 [is] necessary to sustain the severe sanctions of dismissal or default against a noncomplying plaintiff or defendant." 569 So.2d at 1271. Also, Tubero imposes the requirement of an "express finding of a party's willful non-compliance" to serve the purpose of preventing dismissals of a party's case based solely on the acts or neglect of that party's attorney.

In contrast, as the Third District correctly recognized, "this is a case of spoliation of evidence rather than dilatory discovery production." Sponco, 656 So.2d at 630. Unlike here, Tubero did not involve a situation where a party's "ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by ... destruction of evidence."

Although somewhat closer factually than <u>Tubero</u>, the <u>Valcin</u> case is nonetheless readily

distinguishable, since it only involved a situation where the "absence of surgical operative notes impair[ed] the plaintiff's ability to establish his case." Valcin, 507 So.2d at 596. In clear contrast, it was affirmatively demonstrated in the instant case that "in the absence of the crucial evidence [destroyed by Sponco], the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies." Sponco, 656 So.2d at 631.

Moreover, to the extent that it argues the decision in <u>Valcin</u> as authority that a "rebuttable presumption of negligence" or a "shifting of the burden of proof" constitute more appropriate lesser sanctions, Sponco ignores the fact that it has totally failed to establish any competent evidentiary basis from which the trial court, much less this Court, could make the necessary determination whether such a lesser sanction is both realistically available in the case and would sufficiently eliminate all of the potential prejudice caused the plaintiffs. As it did in the trial court, Sponco still wants to deal in the abstract and to have this Court render a decision based solely on Sponco's own self-serving speculations and assurances. ¹⁵

Based upon the only competent evidence before the Court, the decision reached by the trial court is unassailable. Indeed, even utilizing Sponco's proposed lesser sanctions, the

Plaintiffs have carried their burden of affirmatively demonstrating a clear inability to proceed with their prosecution of this suit due to defendant Sponco's loss or destruction of the ladder and cable, and Sponco has offered the Court no evidence to the contrary during the two months which have elapsed since Plaintiffs filed their motion. Imposition of the sanction of striking the defendant Sponco's pleadings and entry of a default on liability, although drastic, is nevertheless the only sanction available under the circumstances to cure the prejudice caused plaintiffs by Sponco's act. While Sponco argued at the hearing that such a sanction was too sever, at no point during oral argument on this matter did it indicate to the Court what lesser sanction it felt would be appropriate under the circumstances. (Tab 2, p. 3).

¹⁵On this point, the trial court's order specifically recited that:

ultimate result in the case would inevitably be the same under the facts affirmatively established in the record, i.e., aided by the presumption, by an inference adverse to Sponco, or by a shifting of the burden of proof, plaintiffs would be entitled to a summary judgment or directed verdict since Sponco would have no affirmative proof unrelated to the ladder and cable it destroyed or lost upon which it could properly attempt to exonerate itself from liability. Cf., Thomas v. Bombardier-Rotax (granting defendant's motion to bar evidence and granting it summary judgment due to plaintiff's spoliation of parts of aircraft wreckage); Patton v. Newmar Corporation (granting defendant's motion for summary judgment because plaintiffs' failure to preserve product evidence eliminated their ability to demonstrate prima facie case).

CONCLUSION

The decision reached by the district court in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with any other decision on the same question of law. The instant decision was reached after application of the appropriate principles of law and is entirely correct under the facts presented. The Third District did not depart from established principles of law and justice in concluding that the trial court properly held Sponco "accountable for the ramifications of its actions." Sponco should not be allowed a prohibited second appeal, and therefore its request for discretionary review in this Court should be denied and the decision of the Third District approved.

HARDY, BISSETT & LIPTON, P.A. Attorneys for Respondents Edward Alcover and Susan Alcover P.O. Box 9700 Miami, Florida 33101-9700 (305) 358-6200

)...

D. Will But

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